I. INTRODUCTION 

Occupational Disease Background: 

This is an Industrial Insurance Appeal regarding acceptance of an 

occupational disease claim involving Appellant's left knee, shoulders, and 

low back. Appellant, Mr. Palm, worked as an industrial electrician for 

over 30 years. The distinctive conditions of his employment included 

carrying steel conduit pipes weighing up to 100 pounds up to 20 times per 

day, carrying lesser amounts on his shoulders throughout the day, cutting 

and assembling steel pieces for conduit racks which required carrying steel 

weighing up to 100 pounds by himself, and with help for pieces weighing 

more than that. His work required manipulation of these heavy pieces 

often reaching overhead or bending in ditches. He spent about 15% of his 

time kneeling on concrete, asphalt, or gravel. He was required to CaITY 

and install, again often in awkward positions, bent pipe, fittings (which for 

larger pipes could be 40 pounds each), and the tools used to manipulate 

the various parts. He would work on electrical paI1els that weighed at the 

low end, 70 or 80 pounds, to a couple tons on the high end. The larger 

panels would be positioned using bars as levers which required at times, 

whole body strength to wrestle into position. The wire that he worked 

with could range in size from normal household wire, up to wire that was 



2.5 - 3 inches in diameter. The tool he used to pull wire of such thickness 

weighed 50 - 60 pounds. In using this tool, he would have to carry, 

anchor, and feed wire through it, all of which required a full range of body 

motions (bending, lifting, and pulling). 

Dr. Gritzka testified on behalf of Mr. Palm. Dr. Gritzka performed 

an exhaustive examination, was aware of the nature of Mr. Palm's job 

duties, and offered the opinion that Mr. Palm suffered several occupational 

disease based conditions in his left knee, shoulders, and low back as a 

result of those work duties. 

Dr. Karges testified on behalf of the Department of Labor and 

Industries. Dr. Karges stated that Mr. Palm's conditions were related to 

age and obesity and were not occupationally related. Dr. Karges was not 

aware of any of the unusual duties Mr. Palm performed as a part of his 

employment, thinking that Mr. Palm was more of a residential electrician, 

and that he had performed that work for only about 15 or 16 years. 

Dr. Bergman testified on behalf of the Department of Labor and 

Industries, and indicated that Mr. Palm did not suffer an occupational 

disease in his knee or shoulder, but was silent with respect to Mr. Palm's 

low back. Like Dr. Karges, Dr. Bergman was not aware of Mr. Palm's 

unique job duties . 

2 



It is Appellant's position that in the context of an occupational 

disease, where the medical analysis is focused on whether distinctive 

conditions of employment caused a medical problem, when a doctor lacks 

knowledge about the distinctive conditions of employment, that doctor's 

opinion is not competent and must be ignored. In the present situation, 

that would require vacating the jury's verdict and entering judgment in 

favor of Mr. Palm. 

Instruction No. 15 Background 

Mr. Palm requested, but was denied, language to the effect that a 

worker is to be taken as he is, with all of his pre-existing infirmities and 

disabilities. There was testimony in the record regarding Mr. Palm's 

weight as a cause of his medical conditions as well as evidence of a 

congenital defect in a vertebrate in his low back. The instruction was 

denied. 

It is Appellant's position that in the context of such evidence, it 

was error to refuse the instruction because it allowed the jury to apply 

erroneous standards to the evidence and ignore evidence in support of Mr. 

Palm's case. Omission of the instruction was thus prejudicial to Mr. Palm, 

and a new trial for Mr. Palm is required to correct that error. 
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Jury Modification Background 

During voir dire, it became apparent that Potential Juror No. 20 

was acquainted with Mr. Palm. No motion to exclude this juror for cause 

was made. During the process of exercising preemptory challenges, the 

Department became confused and, apparently intending to exercise a 

challenge against Juror No. 20, did not in fact do so; The jury was swom 

in and impaneled with Juror No. 20 included in its makeup. 

After the jury was swom in an impaneled, Department requested a 

sidebar and informed the court that it had mistakenly failed to use a 

preemptory challenge on Juror No. 20. The court then asked questions of 

the juror in the presence of the other jurors, clearly designed to detennine 

if she would be biased. After the questioning, another sidebar ensued. 

Ultimately, the trial court did not dismiss her for cause, but instead 

reopened the jury selection process, excused Juror 20 when the 

Department exercised its preemptory, and then reswore and reimpaneled 

the newly constituted jury. 

It is Appellant's position that this departure violated RCW 4.44.290 

which outlines the only reason a sitting juror may be replaced: inability to 

complete her duty. Furthermore, Juror 20 was not dismissed for cause, 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Appellant's Occupational Disease. 

1. The Distinctive Conditions of Employment. 

Mr. Palm's distinctive conditions of employment are outlined in 

detail in a work history declaration. CP 7, Work History Declaration of 

John Palm ("Work History Declaration") 1. He began working as an 

electrician in December of 1971 and began doing industrial electrical work 

in September of 1974. !d. He worked as an industrial electrician until 

May 0[2009 (with the exception of an approximately nine month period 

as a general foreman as well as about two years of time during this time 

period due to unemployment). Id. This amounts to more than three 

decades of work as an industrial electrician. 

Mr. Palm's duties as an industrial electrician were evidently quite 

different from those of a residential electrician. For example, he would 

use wire that could be 2.5 - 3 inches in diameter, steel conduit pipe 

sections up to four inches in diameter and weighing 100 pounds. ld. He 

would carry these on his shoulders up to twenty times per day. Id. 

This document is found roughly half-way through the Certified Appeal Board Record 
in a section entitled "Exhibit(s)" which follows the section entitled "Transcript(s)" 
and precedes the section entitled "Deposition(s)" - it is the only document in the 
Exhibits section. 
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Mr. Palm dealt with panel boxes that could weigh as little as 70 or 

80 pounds, or as much as a couple tons. CP 7, Work History Declaration. 

Larger panels had to be positioned using levers and the positioning was a 

full body workout. Id. In building the panels, he was responsible for 

moving and manipulating steel pieces weighing up to 100 pounds by 

himself, and if more than 100 pounds, he would have assistance. ld. 

Mr. P1am's job required a significant amount of overhead work, or 

work bent over while in ditches. ld. Aside from the pipe or wire, the 

components he used in these tasks were very heavy with some pipe 

couplings weighing 40 pounds on their own. ld. The pipe wrench itself 

for the larger pipes had a handle three feet long, and using that overhead 

was very tiring for him. Jd. Working bent in the ditches was hard on his 

back, and he spent about 15% of his time kneeling on concrete, asphalt, or 

gravel. ld. 

The machine he used to pull larger wire weighed 50 or 60 pounds 

on its own, required anchoring, and required that he bend, lift, and pull 

while fighting with wire. ld. Manipulating the heavy thick wire was not 

an easy task. ld. 
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2. The Causal Connection Between Mr. Palm's Medical 
Conditions and Distinctive Conditions of Employment. 

Dr. Gritzka, a Harvard College and Harvard Medical School 

trained orthopedic surgeon testified on behalf of Mr. Palm. CP 7, Gritzka 

5: 1-8; 6: 13-192• Mr. Palm explained to Dr. Gritzka that he was suffering 

from "stabbing and aching pain in both shoulders, mid line low back pain, 

and stabbing and aching pain in his left knee. CP 7, Gritzka 13 :8-12. Dr. 

Gritzka read Mr. Palm's work history declaration and discussed Mr. Palm's 

job duties with him in a detailed fashion. CP 7, Gritzka 21: 1 0-14; 44: 10-

45:3. 

Dr. Gritzka diagnosed the following conditions: left shoulder 

tendinitis, advanced left acromioclavicular joint arthritis, and left shoulder 

adhesive capsulitis. CP 7, Gritzka 40:4-7. On the right shoulder, mild 

degenerative tendinitis, rotator cuff tendinitis, and glenoid chondromalacia 

degenerative joint disease of the right acromioclavicular joint. CP 7, 

Gritzka 40:7-18. He diagnosed the left knee as having had arthroscopic 

debridement and four previous injections of Orthovisc, with multiple loose 

bodies. CP 7, Gritzka 41 : 1-5. With respect to the low back, Dr. Gritzka 

2 Transcripts of the medical witnesses are contained in the Certified A ppeal Board 
Record and can be found in the section labeled "Deposition(s)" and are cited here by 
reference to the witness' name. Page and line number citations are provided by the 
following formula : page number before the colon, line number after the colon. 
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diagnosed chronic lumbar degenerative spondylosis, mild, and chronic 

right L-5 pars interarticularis defect. CP 7, Gritzka 41 :6-11. 

With respect to the shoulders, Dr. Gritzka testified that Mr. Palm's 

work duties were a proximate cause of the acromioclavicular joint 

conditions (CP 7, Gritzka 45 :19 - 46:22), that the the low back condition 

was related to Mr. Palm's working conditions (CP 7, Gritzka 46:25 -

47:11), and that Mr. Palm's left knee condition was related to his work (CP 

7, Gritzka 47:12 - 48:2). Finally, Dr. Gritzka testified that his opinions 

were provided on a medically more probable than not basis. CP 7, Gritzka 

50:7-9. 

Beyond merely connecting Mr. Palm's specific work tasks to his 

medical conditions, Dr. Gritzka explained mechanically how these tasks 

led to the conditions. For example, with respect to the shoulders: 

... he claimed that he had to carry heavy loads on his shoulder, 
such as pipes, and this load-carrying has an effect on the 
acromioclavicular joints. It does stretch them and stresses them. 

So, his work activities as he described them presented 
stresses to his shoulder j oint, they were of the type that in a 
straightforward mechanical device would cause wear and tear on 
the structure. 

CP 7, Gritzka 46:8-15. 

Dr. Gritzka testified that load carrying and handling of the pipes 

were activities of a type stressful to Mr. Palm' low back. CP 7, Gritzka 
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47: 1-11. Fi nally, Dr. Gritzka spoke about how the kneeling requirements 

of Mr. Palm's work affected his knee: "that impairs the nutrition of the 

articular cartilage and over time can affect the health of the cartilage. So I 

think his work activities probably were injurious to his left knee as well." 

CP 7, Gritzka 47:24 - 48:2. 

3. Respondent's Medical Experts Were Not Aware of Mr. Palm's 
Distinctive Conditions of Employment. 

Dr. Karges was not aware of the three page typed declaration 

describing Mr. Palm's work as an industrial electrician (CP 7, Karges 

38:11-18). Instead, he believed Mr. Palm's work was similar to that ofa 

residential electrician (CP 7, Karges 38: 1-7) and erroneously believed that 

Mr. Palm had worked at such employment for 15 or 16 years (CP 7, 

Karges 38:19-23). Dr. Karges was not aware of the dimensions or weight 

of steel pipe Mr. Palm worked with, the diameter of wire he worked with, 

how often Mr. Palm would have to lift 100 pounds per day, how often he 

worked in trenches, or what types of body positions were required when 

pulling heavy wire or setting up two ton panels (CP 7, Karges 38:24-

40: 13). Dr. Karges report contained merely a handful of general sentences 

regarding Mr. Palm's work history (CP 7, Karges 36:24 - 38:1) and 

critically, he admits that he did not really look at the case from the 
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perspective of Mr. Palm's work duties: 

Q: In terms of a description of how - what he did at work, is it fair 
to say that those are the only paragraphs that, in the history section, 
that describe what his particular work was? 

A: Well yeah I suppose so, although I think .... 
[comments about remodeling houses and that electricians 

perform various tasks omitted] ... but, basically, I suppose. I 
haven't really gone through this from that standpoint. 

CP 7, Karges 37:22 - 38:7. 

Dr. Bergman addressed only Mr. Palm's shoulders and left knee, he 

did not address Mr. Palm's low back condition at all (CP 7, Bergman 18:8-

22). Secondly, by Dr. Bergman's own admission, he did not know what 

Mr. Palm actually did for work: 

Q: At the time of your examination of Mr. Palm in 2009, 
you didn't, you really didn't have a lot of detail regarding 
what he did at his job, is that fair? 

A: That would be a fair assessment. 
I mean, I was aware that he was an electrician, and 

you know, granted, there can be a variety of different 
activities within that job description, but I did not go into 
the specifics of his work, that's correct. .. . Or at least I 
didn't record it. 

Q: . .. And since that time have you discussed his work 
activities with the state at all? 

A: No ... I think this is the first discussion with you all 
since I've last seen him in July of 09. 

CP 7, Bergman 29:17 - 30:8. 
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In summary, neither Dr. Karges nor Dr. Bergman had an 

understanding of Mr. Palm's work duties when they testified that his work 

duties were not a cause of any his medical problems. 

B. Jury Instruction No. 15 Was Designed to Address Evidence of Pre
existing Conditions existent in the Record. 

During the argument related to jury instructions for this case, Mr. 

Palm offered Instruction No. 15, modified to include only the last 

paragraph. CP 12, Inst. 15; RP 161 :3-16. The proposed language was: 

A worker is taken as he is, with all his pre-existing frailties and 
bodily infirmities. The provisions of the workmen's compensation 
act are not limited in their benefits to such persons only as 
approximate physical perfection, for few, if any, workers are 
completely free from latent infirmities originating either in disease 
or in some congenital abnormality. 

This instruction would have informed the jury how to view Mr. Palm's 

claim in light of the fact that the record contained references to his 

physical imperfections. For example, there was testimony regarding Mr. 

Palm's weight (CP 7, Trans. 3 24:11-16; Gritzka 57:17-25; Karges 15:24-

17: 18) with Dr. Karges particularly emphasizing its importance (CP 7, 

Karges 16: 1 - 17: 18). There was also reference made to a congenital pars 

defect at the L5 vertebrate. CP 7, Gritzka 54:18 - 55:6. One of the 

3 This refers to the transcript of the hearing that was held before the Industrial Appeals 
Judge. It is found in the Certified Appeal Board Record in the section entitled 
"Transcript( s)." 
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Department's arguments in this matter was rooted in age" and obesity as 

the cause of Mr. Palm's medical problems. 

C. The Modification of The Sworn and impaneled Jury. 

1. Juror No. 20 Was Acquainted with Appellant, Not Excused for 
Cause, But Was Nevertheless Replaced After The Jury Was 
Sworn and impaneled. 

Potential Juror No. 20 was an acquaintance of Mr. Palm. RP 

33:23-24. Juror No. 20 was questioned by the court (RP 32:25 - 35: 13; 

128: 11 - 129:6) and by the Department (RP 96:3 - 98: 11) regarding her 

acquaintanceship with Mr. Palm. At no time during voir dire. was a 

motion made Department to exclude Juror No. 20 for cause. nor did the 

court decide to exclude her for cause on its own motion. RP 132:5-13. 

136:13-17. 

During the selection process. the Department realized it had 

intended to use a preemptory challenge against Juror No. 20. but had not 

done so due to mistake. RP 132:23 - 124: 1. A sidebar ensued (RP 128:7-

10) after which the court questioned Juror No. 20 on her ability to be 

impartial. RP 128: 1 0 - 129:6. Following this questioning, another sidebar 

~ Age is an interesting defense in that it may actually be little more than a proxy for the 
accumulation of decades of assaults caused by work activities . As Dr. Gritzka stated: 
" Well. it's an intuitive perception that the longer you live, the more so-called micro 
traumas you sustain just in your nonnal being on the planet and walking around . 
That's intuitively at least considered to contribute to osteoarthritis. So not only in hi s 
case is h is work a risk factor, but h is age is probably a risk factor, too. in terms of the 
etiology of his generalized osteoarthritis." CP 7, Gritzka 57:6-12. 
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was held and following that, the Department was allowed to use a 

preemptory challenge to exclude her, jury selection proceeded. and the 

newly constituted jury sworn in. RP 129:21-22; 130: 16-22. 

Outside the presence of the jury, the court summarized the sidebar 

proceedings (RP. 131: 1 - 136: 19) and during that summary, the court 

indicated that it felt Juror No. 20 would have survived a challenge for 

cause. RP 136: 13-17. Mr. Palm lodged a formal objection to the 

moditication of the jury panel. RP 135:18-21. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Should Have Granted Mr. Palm's Motion 
for Judgment as a Matter of Law. 

1. The Court of Appeals Reviews a Motion for Judgment 
as a Matter of Law Applying the Same Standards as the 
Trial Court, and May Grant Such Motion if There Is No 
Evidence that Would Convince a Fair-minded Person of 
the Contrary. 

The Washington State Supreme Court has provided a concise 

summary of the standard the Courts of Appeals apply when eval uati ng a 

motion for judgment as a matter oflaw: 

"Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is 
appropriate when. viewing the evidence most favorable to 
the nonmoving party. the court can say, as a matter of law. 
there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to 
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sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." "Such a 
motion can be granted only when it can be said, as a matter 
of law, that there is no competent and substantial evidence 
upon which the verdict can rest." "Substantial evidence is 
said to exist if it is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, 
rational person of the truth of the declared premise." 
When reviewing a motion for judgment notwithstanding 
the verdict Qudgment as a matter of law). this Court applies 
the same standard as the trial court. 

(Juijosa v. Waf-Mart Stores, Inc., 144 Wn.2d 907, 915,32 P.3d 250 (2001) 

( 'itation.\' Omitted. 

2. The Industrial Insurance Act Is to Be Liberally 
Construed in Favor of Injured Workers 

It is a well known precept of the Industrial Insurance Act ("Act") 

that it "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a 

minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or 

death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51 .04.010. This 

principal is often repeated in the case law involving the Act: 

... the guiding principle in construing provisions of the 
Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature 
and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its 
purpose of providing compensation to all covered 
employees injured in their employment, with doubts 
resolved in favor of the worker. 

Dennis v. Department o(Lahor and Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 

745 P.2d 1295 (1987). 

15 



3. An Occupational Disease Is a Medical Condition Caused 
By Distinctive Conditions of a Worker's Employment. 

With respect to the actual evaluation of an occupational disease, 

the seminal test is outlined in the Dennis case: 

We hold that a worker must establish that his or her 
occupational disease came about as a matter of course as a 
natural consequence or incident of distinctive conditions of 
his or her particular employment. The conditions need not 
be peculiar to, nor unique to, the worker's particular 
employment. Moreover, the focus is upon conditions 
giving rise 10 the occupational disease, or the disease
based disability resultingfrom work-related aggravation 0(' 
a nonwork-related disease, and not upon whether the 
disease itse(l is common to that particular employment. 
The worker, in attempting to satisfy the "naturally" 
requirement, must show that his or her particular work 
conditions more probably caused his or her disease or 
disease-based disability than conditions in everyday life or 
all employments in general; the disease or disease-based 
disability must be a natural incident of conditions of that 
worker's particular employment. Finally, the conditions 
causing the disease or disease-based disability must be 
conditions of employment, that is, conditions of the 
worker's particular occupation as opposed to conditions 
coincidentally occurring in his or her workplace. 

Dennis v. Department of Labor and Indus. 109 Wn.2d 467, 

481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)5 emphasis added. 

Dennis has been fleshed out over time, particularly with respect to

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