NO. 71816-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN W. PALM,

Appellant,

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3820

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

An occupational disease must "[come] about as a matter of course as a natural consequence or incident of distinctive conditions" of the worker's employment. *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). The causal connection between the work and the disability must be established by medical evidence that "but for the aggravating condition of the job, the claimed disability would not have arisen." *Ruse*, 138 Wn.2d at 7; *see also Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 477.

Viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the Department, the jury had substantial evidence before it to conclude that Palm's work did not cause his shoulder, left knee, and low back conditions. Dr. Karges testified that he believed that the primary cause of Palm's conditions were his age, living, exogenous obesity, and deconditioning. CP 278. He did not believe that Palm's occupation as a journeyman electrician caused any of these conditions as an occupational disease. CP 280.

With regard to Palm's shoulders, Dr. Karges characterized the MRI studies of Palm's shoulders as "almost normal" for his age. CP 281. Dr. Bergman agreed with this assessment, noting that the right shoulder MRI was "very typical of a 58-year-old" and that he would expect to see the same findings in his own shoulders as a 54-year old man even though he had not worked as an electrician. CP 250, 253. The shoulder findings were typical in Palm's age group and were just part of the aging process. CP 253. According to Dr. Bergman, the changes in both shoulders were degenerative. See CP 254. He testified age was "the most important part of the equation" for Palm. CP 253, 264. Dr. Bergman stated that it would be a "far reach" to say that Palm's shoulder conditions were directly related to his work as an electrician. CP 255.

With regard to Palm's left knee, Dr. Karges testified that the main factor affecting Palm's knees was his "longstanding overweight problem." CP 283. Dr. Karges testified extensively about Palm's longstanding weight problems and the harmful effect that excess weight can have on the joints, including increased compression on the knee while walking, running, or jumping. *See* CP 283-85. Dr. Bergman agreed that Palm's

weight would have an effect on his knee problems because every pound puts more stress on the knee; obesity adds to the progression of arthritis on a weight-bearing joint. CP 247. He testified that the findings in Palm's knee were "pretty common" for someone his age. CP 264. Dr. Gritzka agreed that Palm was overweight and "his weight probably played a role" in his problems. CP 219.

With regard to the low back, Dr. Karges stated that a lumbar spine MRI showed changes compatible with Palm's age. CP 296. He opined that Palm's complaints about his low back were primarily caused by age, living, obesity, and deconditioning. CP 278.

This extensive medical testimony supports the jury's verdict in this case. An order granting judgment as a matter of law should be limited to circumstances in which there is no doubt as to the proper verdict. *Schmidt*, 162 Wn.2d at 493. Here, the jury had significant evidence before it that Mr. Palm's conditions were not caused by work, but by Palm's longstanding weight problems, his age, his living, and his deconditioning. This substantial medical evidence supported its verdict.

All of Palm's arguments about why he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law disregard the correct standard of review. He identifies several reasons why the jury should have given Dr. Karges's opinion less weight, including his unfamiliarity with the specific tasks on the job, his

belief that Palm's work was similar to a residential electrician, and his belief that Palm had worked as an electrician for 15 or 16 years. App. Br. 22-24. Similarly, he argues that Dr. Bergman's opinion should be disregarded because he did not know what Palm's conditions of employment were. App. Br. 24-25. He made similar arguments to the jury, which rejected them. RP (6/13/13) at 197-202. All of these arguments pertain to the amount of weight that the jury should have given these doctors' testimony. But at this stage, this Court cannot reweigh the evidence, re-balance the testimony, or substitute its own judgment for that of the jury. *Fox*, 154 Wn. App. at 527; *Korst*, 136 Wn. App. at 206; *Gagnon*, 110 Wn. App. at 485.

The jury was entitled give more weight to Dr. Bergman as the only testifying physician who treated Palm and to Dr. Karges, who testified about the impact of several non-work factors on Palm's conditions. *See* CP 452 (jury should give special consideration to testimony given by attending physician). That the jury placed greater weight on this medical evidence than Palm would does not entitle him to a new trial.

Palm also attacks Dr. Karges's opinion on the basis that he testified that an occupational disease requires a repetitive task. App. Br. 21-22. But the trial court instructed the jury on the meaning of occupational disease, and a jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. CP 449;

Lewis v. Simpson Timber Co., 145 Wn. App. 302, 318, 189 P.3d 178 (2008). In any event, Dr. Karges's opinion is that Palm's condition is caused by age, obesity, living, and deconditioning, an opinion that does not require a legal knowledge of workers' compensation law. To the extent that Palm is arguing that Dr. Karges's opinion should given less weight on this basis, he made this argument to the jury, which rejected it, and this Court does not re-weigh evidence on appeal. See RP (6/13/13) at 221-22.

Finally, the doctrine of liberal construction provides no basis to reverse the jury's verdict. See App. Br. 15. Under that doctrine, the court liberally construes the terms of the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.12.010; Clauson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 130 Wn.2d 580, 584, 925 P.2d 624 (1996). Liberal construction "does not apply to questions of fact but to matters concerning the construction of the statute." Ehman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 33 Wn.2d 584, 595, 206 P.2d 787 (1949). Liberal construction does not apply when the court is reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support the fact-finder's decision. Raum, 171 Wn. App. at 155 n.28. It applies only to the interpretation of ambiguous statutes. See Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). This case does not involve an ambiguous statute that requires construction but, rather, whether substantial evidence supported the jury's

verdict. Because substantial evidence supports the verdict, the trial court properly denied Palm's judgment as a matter of law.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Rejecting Palm's Proposed Instruction Because He Could Use the Multiple Proximate Cause Instruction to Argue His Theory

The jury instructions allowed Palm to argue his theory of the case and properly informed the jury of the applicable law with regard to causation. Palm's theory was that the distinctive conditions of his employment were a cause of his occupational disease. The multiple proximate cause instruction allowed Palm to argue that, even if there were other causes of his conditions, such as his weight and age, the distinctive conditions of his employment were at least a cause of his shoulder, left knee, and low back conditions. Indeed, Palm explicitly made this causation argument to the jury, which rejected it. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Palm's proposed instruction that a worker is taken as he is with all his pre-existing infirmities.

Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow a party to argue his or her theory of the case, are not misleading, and, when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *Leeper v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 123 Wn.2d 803, 809, 872 P.2d 507 (1994). Here, the multiple proximate cause instruction allowed Palm to argue that the distinctive conditions of his employment were a cause of his conditions.

As a preliminary matter, this Court should only consider whether the trial court abused its discretion in declining to give the third paragraph of Palm's proposed instruction. The first two paragraphs of the proposed involve the "lighting up" doctrine in workers' compensation law. See CP 333. At the instruction conference, Palm agreed that "[t]here is no lighting up" in this case, and he argued that the third paragraph of the instruction was "the only part that [he was] interested in." RP (6/12/13) at 161. Palm's arguments in his appellant's brief focus almost entirely on the language in the third paragraph, and his brief contains no specific argument about why the first two paragraphs should be included. See App. Br. 3, 26-29. Later in his brief, he argues that the instruction should have been given "either in the original form or as offered modified at hearing" but he makes no specific argument about the first two paragraphs of his proposed instruction. See App. Br. 28. Therefore, this court should limit its review to whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing to give the third paragraph as an instruction. See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (court does not consider unsupported arguments).

Here, the issue for the jury to resolve was whether an occupational disease caused Palm's conditions. The parties presented competing medical opinions about the cause of Palm's conditions. Palm did not need

his proposed instruction to argue his theory that Dr. Gritzka's medical testimony supported allowance of the occupational disease claim or that the testimony as a whole showed that the distinctive conditions of Palm's work caused his conditions. In fact, he did so in closing argument when he repeatedly focused on the word "a" in the multiple proximate cause instruction. RP (6/13/13) at 182-83, 219-20.

Because Palm was able to use the multiple proximate cause instruction to argue his theory of the case, he is incorrect when he asserts that "[w]ithout an instruction specifically directed at the pre-existing conditions, Mr. Palm was deprived of the legal substance to fully argue his case." App Br. 28. He used the multiple proximate cause instruction to argue his case, arguing for example that his age and weight did not preclude the jury from determining that he had an occupational disease:

[T]his is all being blamed on Mr. Palm being old and heavy. You will recall that the instructions indicate that the work conditions must be "a" cause of his medical problems. They don't have to be the sole cause or the only cause or the major contributing cause. They have to be a cause and that's because we take our workers as they come. Some workers are heavy. Some workers are strong. Some workers are weak. Some workers are like he-man. They all get covered no matter what their situation is.

RP (6/13/13) at 219-20.

Palm asserts that the proximate cause instruction did not cure the omission of his rejected proposed instruction because "a different

instruction specifically advises the jury that the lawyers['] comments are neither evidence nor the law." App. Br. 28; see also CP 436. But the proximate cause instruction is the law, not the "mere opinion of counsel open to be ignored." App. Br. 28. An instruction is not a lawyer's comment that can be disregarded. Rather, as the judge explained to these jurors, jury instructions are the law that the jury had to apply to the facts before it. CP 435. Palm makes no other argument as to why the proximate cause instruction did not allow him to argue his theory of the case. If a party can argue its theory under the instructions given as a whole, the trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction is not reversible error. Flavorland Indus., Inc. v. Schumacker, 32 Wn. App. 428, 436, 647 P.2d 1062 (1982).

Moreover, as Palm notes in his brief, this Court has explained that "the 'multiple proximate cause' theory is but another way of stating the fundamental principle that, for disability assessment purposes, a workman is to be taken as he is, with all his preexisting frailties and bodily infirmities." App. Br. 19 (quoting *City of Bremerton v. Shreeve*, 55 Wn. App. 334, 340, 777 P.2d 568 (1989)). In other words, the multiple proximate cause instruction allowed Palm to argue, as he did, that he was to be taken as he is, with his pre-existing frailties and infirmities. The jury instructions allowed both parties to argue their theories of the case and the

refusal to give the instruction was not manifestly unreasonable. See Harker-Lott, 93 Wn. App. at 183, 186.

Nor was the trial court required to give the third paragraph of Palm's instruction because it quotes language directly from *Miller v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 200 Wash. 674, 682, 94 P.2d 764 (1939). *See* App. Br. 27. "The fact that certain language is used in an appellate court decision does not mean it must be incorporated into a jury instruction." *Braxton v. Rotec Indus., Inc.*, 30 Wn. App. 221, 227, 633 P.2d 897 (1981); *accord Turner v. City of Tacoma*, 72 Wn.2d 1029, 1034, 435 P.2d 927 (1967). Palm was able to argue his theory with the instructions as a whole.

Even if Palm's proposed instruction should have been given, there was no prejudice because, as explained above, the jury would have reached the same result even with the requested instruction. *See Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. at 186. This Court considers the evidence and whether the instruction would have been likely to change the outcome of the trial. *Id.* at 188-89. This instruction would not likely have changed the trial's outcome because it does not address the primary dispute in this case: the cause of Palm's shoulder, left knee, and low back conditions. Palm argued to the jury that the distinctive conditions of his work were at least a cause of these conditions, which is the same argument that he would have

to make even if his proposed instruction was included. The jury rejected this argument, and substantial evidence supports its verdict. Palm cannot show prejudice.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Allowed the Department To Use a Peremptory Challenge To Remove Palm's Friend From the Jury

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed the Department to use a peremptory challenge to remove Palm's friend from the jury after impanelment. As the trial court found, the Department's counsel apparently misunderstood local jury selection procedures. CP 403. The trial court accepted responsibility for not informing the parties of these procedures, and it reasonably addressed this misunderstanding by allowing the Department to use a peremptory challenge against Palm's friend. See RP (6/11/13) at 132-33. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial on this basis.

In a civil case, RCW 4.44.210 governs the procedure for exercising peremptory challenges. This statute addresses the order of peremptory challenges but is silent with regard to whether a peremptory challenge may be exercised after impanelment:

The jurors having been examined as to their qualifications, first by the plaintiff and then by the defendant, and passed for cause, the peremptory challenges shall be conducted as follows, to wit:

The plaintiff may challenge one, and then the defendant may challenge one, and so alternately until the peremptory challenges shall be exhausted. During this alternating process, if one of the parties declines to exercise a peremptory challenge, then that party may no longer peremptorily challenge any of the jurors in the group for which challenges are then being considered and may only peremptorily challenge any jurors later added to that group. A refusal to challenge by either party in the said order of alternation shall not prevent the adverse party from using the full number of challenges.

RCW 4.44.210.5

This Court has previously approved the exercise of peremptory challenges after impanelment, even when the impaneled jury has begun taking testimony. In a criminal case involving attempted murder and kidnapping charges, the jury had been sworn and the State's first witness had begun to testify when a juror informed the court that she knew the alleged victim. *Williamson*, 100 Wn. App. at 250, 252. The trial court refused to remove the juror for cause but allowed the State to exercise an unused peremptory challenge to remove the juror. *Id.* at 252.

This Court affirmed the trial court's ruling allowing the late peremptory challenge. *Williamson*, 100 Wn. App. at 250, 255. As this

⁵ Department's counsel did not intentionally decline to exercise a peremptory challenge against juror 20. Rather, as the trial court explained, Department's counsel intended to challenge juror 20 because of her responses during voir dire. RP (6/11/13) at 132-33. He did not challenge juror 20 with his third peremptory challenge because he mistakenly believed that peremptory challenges could only be used on jurors seated in the box. RP (6/11/13) at 134. As soon as Department's counsel believed that he had the opportunity to challenge juror 20, i.e. during the selection of alternates, he did so. *See* RP (6/11/13) at 127.

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